
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Tomilola “Tomi” Akanle, Asheline Appleton, Kati Kulovesi, Ph.D., Eugenia Recio, 
Anna Schulz, and Matthew Sommerville, Ph.D. The Digital Editor is Leila Mead. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org>. The Director of IISD Reporting 
Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the United Kingdom (through the Department for International 
Development – DFID), the Government of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific 
Affairs), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the German Federal Ministry for Economic Cooperation and Development (BMZ), 
the German Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation and Nuclear Safety (BMU), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-
ENV), and the Italian Ministry for the Environment, Land and Sea. General Support for the Bulletin during 2010 is provided by the Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the 
Government of Australia, the Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry, Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment of Sweden, the New Zealand 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN), the Finnish Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Japanese Ministry 
of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and 
Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI), the Government of Iceland, the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), and the World Bank. Funding for translation 
of the Bulletin into French has been provided by the Government of France, the Belgium Walloon Region, the Province of Québec, and the International Organization of the 
Francophone (OIF and IEPF). Funding for translation of the Bulletin into Spanish has been provided by the Spanish Ministry of the Environment and Rural and Marine Affairs. 
The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in 
non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD 
Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11D, New York, New York 10022, United States of America. The ENB Team at the Cancún 
Climate Change Conference can be contacted by e-mail at <kati@iisd.org>.

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 12 No. 488 Tuesday, 30 November 2010

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/climate/cop16/

COP 16
#2

CANCUN HIGHLIGHTS
29 NOVEMBER 2010

The UN Climate Change Conference in Cancun opened on 
Monday. In the morning and afternoon, the opening plenary of 
the Conference of the Parties (COP) took place. In the afternoon, 
opening plenaries of the Conference of the Parties serving as the 
Meeting of the Parties to the Kyoto Protocol (COP/MOP), the 
Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-term Cooperative Action under 
the UNFCCC (AWG-LCA) and the Ad Hoc Working Group 
on Further Commitments by Annex I Parties under the Kyoto 
Protocol (AWG-KP) convened. In the evening, the AWG-LCA 
contact group on preparation of an outcome for COP 16 and the 
AWG-KP contact group on Annex I further commitments met.

COP
Lykke Friis, Minister for Climate Change and Energy, 

Denmark, for the COP 15 Presidency, stressed the need for a 
“response to climate change to match reality,” and for decisive 
steps towards a legally-binding outcome. She also urged 
delegates to show the world that climate change was not “put on 
ice” in Copenhagen and that “Cancun can.” 

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS: Election of COP 16 
President: Parties elected Patricia Espinosa, Minister for Foreign 
Affairs, Mexico, as COP 16 President. She identified Cancun 
as an opportunity to move from discourse to action on many 
fronts, highlighting that the credibility of the multilateral system 
is at stake. She emphasized that a broad, balanced package of 
decisions is within the reach of parties.

Rules of Procedure: COP President Espinosa reminded 
parties of the practice since COP 1 to apply the draft rules of 
procedure (FCCC/CP/1996/2) with the exception of draft rule 42 
on voting. She noted that the issue remains unresolved after COP 
15 and the COP President’s intersessional consultations. 

PAPUA NEW GUINEA expressed serious concern over 
continued reliance on the consensus rule and “the lowest 
common denominator.” He highlighted that Copenhagen was not 
a political but a procedural failure, noting that 140 parties have 
subsequently expressed support for the Copenhagen Accord. He 
stated that a minority is holding up progress and stressed that 
time has come to move forward under the UNFCCC with the 
possibility to vote “when all else fails” or look elsewhere for 
solutions. 

BOLIVIA stated that the problem in Copenhagen was not the 
consensus rule but that the multilateral process was not respected 
and stressed the need to preserve the consensus rule. INDIA 
and SAUDI ARABIA identified consensus as the paramount 
principle that has produced the UNFCCC, Kyoto Protocol, 
Marrakesh Accords and the Bali Action Plan, and said it must be 
preserved. 

Joel Hernández (Mexico) will consult informally.
Agenda: Parties adopted the agenda (FCCC/CP/2010/1) with 

the item on the second review of Convention Articles 4.2(a) and 
4.2(b) held in abeyance.

Election of other officers: COP President Espinosa noted that 
consultations on election of officers other than the President are 
ongoing.

Admission of observers: Parties agreed to accredit observer 
organizations (FCCC/CP/2010/4), including the South Asian 
Association for Regional Cooperation.

Organization of work: Parties referred many agenda items 
to the Subsidiary Bodies. COP President Espinosa stressed 
her commitment to work in a way that ensures inclusiveness, 
transparency and a sense of urgency.

Future sessions: South Africa announced that COP 17 and 
COP/MOP 7 will be held in Durban, South Africa, from 28 
November to 9 December 2011. COP President Espinosa noted 
that consultations on the venue of COP 18 and COP/MOP 8 are 
ongoing.

OPENING STATEMENTS: Yemen, for the G-77/CHINA, 
called for the negotiations to be party-driven, transparent and 
inclusive. He stressed the need for balance between the AWG-
LCA and the AWG-KP negotiating tracks. The G-77/CHINA 
identified the need for additional funding for the Special 
Climate Change Fund and the Least Developed Country Fund, 
developing country adaptation and developing country national 
communications. He stressed the need for a decision on a new 
fund, addressing structure, scope, scale and resources. He also 
highlighted, inter alia: the fund’s operating entity; accountability; 
measuring, reporting and verifying (MRV) of developed country 
contributions; and assessing adequacy of financing. 

Egypt, for the ARAB GROUP, said a balanced outcome 
should support developing countries’ adaptation efforts, 
encourage voluntary participation in international efforts to 
cut emissions and incorporate a mechanism for implementing 
financing and technology measures in developing countries. 

Switzerland, for the ENVIRONMENTAL INTEGRITY 
GROUP (EIG), highlighted that Cancun is the “time to deliver” 
and said the Group “cannot and will not accept further delays.” 
He noted that good progress has been made on adaptation, 
finance, REDD+, capacity building and technology, but that 
mitigation, and MRV are outstanding issues also required for a 
balanced package. 

Grenada, for the ALLIANCE OF SMALL ISLAND STATES 
(AOSIS), highlighted the challenge of producing outcomes 
that provide for immediate action in all countries and lay the 
groundwork for completing unfinished work in South Africa. He 
called for a ratifiable, legally-binding agreement from the AWG-
LCA. The Democratic Republic of the Congo, for the AFRICAN 



Tuesday, 30 November 2010   Vol. 12 No. 488  Page 2
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

GROUP, called for agreement on a comprehensive adaptation 
framework and for developed countries to agree on new and 
additional financing that is accessible to all countries. Belize, 
for the CENTRAL AMERICAN INTEGRATION SYSTEM 
(SICA), underscored the urgency of adaptation and stressed the 
need for a second commitment period under the Kyoto Protocol 
immediately following the first one, and called for a legally-
binding agreement in South Africa. 

Venezuela, for the BOLIVARIAN ALLIANCE FOR 
THE PEOPLES OF OUR AMERICA (ALBA), said the 
Kyoto Protocol is a universal agreement that crystallizes the 
determination of all UN countries, except for one, to face 
climate change based on equity and the principle of common 
but differentiated responsibilities. She called for an inclusive 
and balanced outcome in Cancun without losing achievements 
already made by countries.

Lesotho, for the LEAST DEVELOPED COUNTRIES 
(LDCs), stressed that the UNFCCC should remain the central 
international platform to address climate change. He said the 
outcome could be a set of balanced decisions, but that this 
should not preclude the possibility of a future comprehensive and 
legally-binding agreement. 

Papua New Guinea, for the COALITION OF RAINFOREST 
NATIONS, urged a meaningful decision on REDD+. Tajikistan, 
for the MOUNTAINOUS LANDLOCKED DEVELOPING 
COUNTRIES, highlighted climate change impacts on glaciers, 
stressed the vital importance of this issue to members of the 
Group and urged efforts by the international community to 
address the problem. 

Belgium, for the EUROPEAN UNION (EU), called for a 
balanced package within and across the two negotiating tracks. 
He said a Cancun outcome must: capture progress to the 
maximum extent; contain the framework and basis of a future 
climate change regime; achieve incremental steps on MRV, 
mitigation, adaptation, capacity building, finance and technology; 
and make as much progress as possible towards a legally-binding 
outcome. 

COP President Espinosa informed parties that she would 
be conducting consultations on mitigation with the Chairs of 
the two AWGs, adhering to the principles of transparency and 
inclusiveness. She also informed parties that a stocktaking 
plenary would convene on Saturday. 

COP/MOP
In the afternoon, COP/MOP President Espinosa opened COP/

MOP 6, highlighting the need for a balanced set of decisions. 
ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS: Parties adopted the 

agenda (FCCC/KP/CMP/2010/1). Parties referred a number of 
issues to the Subsidiary Bodies and agreed to the organization of 
work (FCCC/KP/CMP/2010/1 and Add.1, FCCC/SBI/2010/11, 
FCCC/SBSTA/2010/7 and FCCC/KP/AWG/2010/15). 

OPENING STATEMENTS: Grenada, for AOSIS, stressed 
the objective in Cancun to agree on the amendment of the 
Kyoto Protocol as mandated by Protocol Article 3.9 (Annex 
I further commitments) and on consequential amendments to 
ensure the effectiveness of the Protocol. Yemen, for the G-77/
CHINA, underscored the AWG-KP’s mandate and stressed that 
a second commitment period must be established under the 
Kyoto Protocol beyond 2012 as the basis for comparable Annex I 
emission reduction commitments. Egypt, for the ARAB GROUP, 
underscored that an agreement under the AWG-LCA will not be 
possible unless agreement is reached on a second Kyoto Protocol 
commitment period.

Belgium, for the EU, said a Cancun outcome should further 
clarify parties’ emission reduction objectives with a view to 
limiting global average warming to 2°C and inscribing them 
under the AWG-KP process. The EU expressed willingness to 
commit to a second commitment period as a part of a wider 
outcome that engages all major economies. 

Australia, for the UMBRELLA GROUP, urged progress on 
items such as land use, land-use change and forestry (LULUCF) 
and the flexibility mechanisms, and expressed commitment to 

continuous, effective action on climate change now, up to and 
beyond 2012. Switzerland, for the EIG, stressed the need for 
concerted efforts by both Annex I and non-Annex I parties. 
He called for capturing Annex I emission reduction pledges 
and stressed the importance of a decision on the continuity of 
existing market mechanisms.

Lesotho, for the LDCs, urged the adoption of ambitious 
reduction targets to avoid a gap between commitment periods. 
The Democratic Republic of the Congo, for the AFRICAN 
GROUP, noted, with concern, the lack of political signals 
that developed countries are prepared to undertake ambitious, 
legally-binding emission reduction commitments. Bolivia, for 
ALBA, stressed that developed country commitments cannot be 
conditioned on markets and the flexibility mechanisms, eluding 
historical responsibility. Vanuatu, for the PACIFIC SMALL 
ISLAND DEVELOPING STATES, called for ambitious and 
legally-binding targets by Annex I countries and stressed the 
need for a second commitment period under the Protocol to 
address the “climate crisis.” 

AWG-KP
AWG-KP Chair John Ashe (Antigua and Barbuda) recalled 

that the AWG-KP is expected to conclude its work in Cancun 
and report its outcome to COP/MOP 6. 

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS: Parties adopted 
the agenda (FCCC/KP/AWG/2010/15) and agreed to the 
organization of work (FCCC/KP/AWG/2010/16).

OPENING STATEMENTS: Yemen, for the G-77/CHINA, 
urged Annex I parties to close the gap between the current 
emission reduction pledges and what is required by science. 
Belgium, for the EU, said the Cancun outcome should preserve 
the Kyoto Protocol architecture and confirm the continuation 
of the Kyoto Protocol institutions, but noted that progress 
under the AWG-KP alone would be insufficient. Australia, for 
the UMBRELLA GROUP, said that agreement on the work 
by the AWG-KP should be part of a comprehensive outcome 
considering the AWG-LCA. The Democratic Republic of the 
Congo, for the AFRICAN GROUP, emphasized that the AWG-
LCA should agree on comparable mitigation commitments for 
Annex I countries that are not parties to the Kyoto Protocol.

Lesotho, for the LDCs, said that Annex I parties should 
increase the level of ambition of their emission reduction 
commitments and, with Grenada, for AOSIS, said loopholes, 
such as carry over of surplus AAUs and weak LULUCF 
accounting rules, should be avoided. Liechtenstein, for the EIG, 
highlighted the need for further progress on transforming pledges 
into quantified emission limitation and reduction objectives 
(QELROs), commitment period length and the carryover of 
surplus AAUs. 

ANNEX I FURTHER COMMITMENTS: On this issue 
(FCCC/KP/AWG/2010/17 and MISC.7), AWG-KP Chair Ashe 
proposed the establishment of single contact group and after 
consultations, parties agreed. 

AWG-LCA
ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS: AWG-LCA Chair 

Margaret Mukahanana-Sangarwe (Zimbabwe) opened the session 
and parties adopted the agenda (FCCC/AWGLCA/20010/16) and 
agreed to the organization of work (FCCC/AWGLCA/2010/17). 

PREPARATION OF AN OUTCOME FOR COP 16: The 
Secretariat introduced documents (FCCC/AWGLCA/2010/14, 
FCCC/AWGLCA/2010/17, FCCC/AWGLCA/2010/INF.1, 
FCCC/AWGLCA/2010/CRP.1, FCCC/AWGLCA/2010/MISC.8 
& Add.1 and FCCC/AWGLCA/2010/MISC.9 & Add.1).

MEXICO explained that his country had held a number of 
consultations with parties and stakeholders throughout the year 
in preparation for Cancun and highlighted, inter alia, a meeting 
on mitigation, including MRV, and the pre-COP ministerial 
meeting after Tianjin. He stressed the meetings were open to 
all interested governments and have helped Mexico understand 



Vol. 12 No. 488  Page 3     Tuesday, 30 November 2010
 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

parties’ views. He stressed that success in Cancun will confirm 
that the multilateral system is the best forum to face common 
challenges. 

ETHIOPIA reported on the UN Secretary-General’s 
High-level Advisory Group on Climate Change Finance. He 
emphasized the conclusion that it will be challenging but 
possible to mobilize US$100 billion annually for climate action 
in developing countries by 2020 and that a combination of 
different sources will be necessary. He noted that his country 
has submitted the Group’s report to the Secretariat so that it can 
provide valuable input to the negotiations.  

GRENADA reported on an informal ministerial meeting 
co-hosted by Grenada and Mexico in November with 42 
AOSIS and non-AOSIS participants. She highlighted, inter 
alia, agreement on the urgency of mitigation, broad interest in a 
second commitment period under the Protocol and the need for 
a new fund under the Convention. COSTA RICA reported on 
the outcome of the third meeting of the Cartagena dialogue on 
progressive action where priority areas for a balanced package 
had been identified. 

AWG-LCA Chair Mukahanana-Sangarwe noted her informal 
consultations in Tianjin on the Cancun outcome, highlighting 
a shared desire for a balanced and comprehensive outcome 
that: respects the two-track approach; balances elements of the 
Bali Action Plan; is balanced concerning the level of detail; 
and does not prejudge a future legally-binding outcome. She 
highlighted her note on the possible elements of an outcome 
(FCCC/AWGLCA/2010/CRP.1), indicating that not all elements 
are fully elaborated, reflecting the current stage of progress. 
AWG-LCA Chair Mukahanana-Sangarwe said the elements 
were presented in the search for common ground, have no 
formal status and will not replace the official negotiating text 
(FCCC/AWGLCA/2010/14), which contains the comprehensive 
spectrum of views. 

Parties agreed to establish a contact group chaired by AWG-
LCA Chair Mukahanana-Sangarwe to consider the agenda item.

OPENING STATEMENTS: Yemen, for the G-77/CHINA, 
identified the need to respect the balance between the two 
negotiating tracks and emphasized that the outcome should 
not compromise or prejudge the overall objective of reaching 
a comprehensive, fair, ambitious and legally-binding outcome 
in the future. Lesotho, for the LDCs, called for an adaptation 
framework covering the full costs, as well as an international 
mechanism for addressing loss and damage. 

Grenada, for AOSIS, called for a process to strengthen 
emission reduction pledges communicated to the UNFCCC, 
while noting that recognition of pledges should not be used to 
undermine the AWG-KP track. She highlighted that an “empty” 
adaptation framework would not be acceptable to AOSIS and 
questioned opposition to a mechanism for loss and damage. 
Australia, for the UMBRELLA GROUP, noted that Cancun 
should help to prepare a legally-binding agreement that includes 
commitments by all major economies. She called for: progress 
on MRV and international consultation and analysis (ICA); a 
workplan for climate finance; a framework for adaptation; details 
on technology institutions; and establishment of a REDD+ 
mechanism. She welcomed the Chair’s outcome note and called 
for details on MRV and mitigation. 

The Democratic Republic of the Congo, for the AFRICAN 
GROUP, noted a willingness to work on the basis of the 
Chair’s note, but highlighted that key elements from the August 
negotiating text had been lost, particularly on a shared vision, 
mitigation, finance and capacity building. 

Belgium, for the EU, welcomed the Chair’s note, but 
underscored that elements on mitigation and MRV are missing. 
He said Cancun should agree on the key principles of the 
Copenhagen Green Climate Fund, with a process for a periodic 
review of climate financing. He called for incremental steps 
on all building blocks and said more than €2 billion had been 
mobilized in 2010. 

Egypt, for the ARAB GROUP, noted missing elements from 
the Chair’s outcome note and called for working on the basis 

of the August negotiating text. Papua New Guinea, on behalf of 
the COALITION OF RAINFOREST NATIONS, called for the 
conclusion of discussions on REDD+ and for ensuring adequate, 
consistent and sustainable financing from multiple sources. 
The Republic of Korea, for the EIG, emphasized the need for 
flexibility to achieve a balanced and environmentally-effective 
outcome. Venezuela, for ALBA, called for decisions in Cancun 
that would result in the adoption of a legally-binding agreement 
in South Africa respecting the two negotiating tracks. Belize, for 
SICA, emphasized the need for environmentally-robust targets 
for mitigation and credible and actionable financial commitments 
that will enable direct access. 

CONTACT GROUPS
ANNEX I FURTHER COMMITMENTS (AWG-KP): On 

Monday evening, AWG-KP Chair Ashe introduced his proposal 
(FCCC/KP/AWG/2010/CRP.4), which contains draft decision 
text on amendments to the Kyoto Protocol pursuant to its Article 
3.9 (Annex I further commitments), LULUCF, the flexibility 
mechanisms, methodological issues and potential consequences. 
Parties agreed to establish informal groups on: amendments 
to the Kyoto Protocol pursuant to its Article 3.9, co-facilitated 
by Jürgen Lefevere (European Commission) and Leon Charles 
(Grenada); LULUCF, co-facilitated by Marcelo Rocha (Brazil) 
and Peter Iversen (Denmark); the flexibility mechanisms and 
methodological issues, facilitated by AWG-KP Vice-Chair Adrian 
Macey (New Zealand); and potential consequences, co-facilitated 
by Andrew Ure (Australia) and Eduardo Calvo Buendía (Peru). 

PREPARATION OF AN OUTCOME FOR COP 16 
(AWG-LCA): AWG-LCA Chair Mukahanana-Sangarwe opened 
the first meeting of the AWG-LCA contact group on Monday 
evening. Parties agreed to the continuation of the four drafting 
groups on: a shared vision, facilitated by Anders Turesson 
(Sweden); adaptation, facilitated by Kishan Kumarsingh 
(Trinidad and Tobago); mitigation, co-facilitated by Richard 
Muyungi (Tanzania) and Helen Plume (New Zealand); and 
finance, technology and capacity building, co-facilitated by 
Burhan Gafoor (Singapore) and Kunihiko Shimada (Japan).

IN THE CORRIDORS
Cancun welcomed participants to the UN Climate Change 

Conference with beautiful sunshine, sandy beaches and crystal-
blue Caribbean waters. Yet, many of those arriving to the 
conference were not in an optimistic mood. Expectations for an 
outcome that is ambitious and meaningful enough to respond to 
the climate change challenge are much lower than they were in 
Copenhagen last year. For most, a positive outcome from Cancun 
would mean “a balanced package” on issues such as the green 
fund, a technology mechanism, REDD+, adaptation and MRV/
ICA, possibly leaving more difficult but crucially important 
issues, such as mitigation and legal form for resolution some 
time in the future. “Reaching agreement on these issues would 
undoubtedly be progress, but this will not be enough to avoid 
dangerous climate change, so I’m not too excited about the 
prospects,” noted a seasoned veteran.

Conference logistics were an overwhelmingly popular 
topic among those not staying at the conference venue. While 
negotiations are taking place at the Moon Palace, which is 
normally some 20-45 minutes drive away from most hotels - the 
heavy morning traffic and numerous police check points meant 
that many delegates spent several hours in the traffic jam. In 
addition, negotiators have to travel past the Moon Palace to the 
second venue, Cancun Messe (or the Cancun "mess", as some 
have named it) to go through a security check, board shuttle 
buses and drive a further 20 minutes back to the Moon Palce. “It 
took us almost three hours to get here this morning and it will 
probably take an hour or more to go back. Knowing how tiring 
these conferences are even without a long commute, I’m quite 
worried!” remarked a delegate boarding the shuttle bus following 
the opening reception under the stars.



Tuesday, 30 November 2010   Vol. 12 No. 488  Page 4
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

The International Institute for Sustainable Development is pleased to announce the launch of

SIDS Policy & Practice:
A Knowledgebase on the Sustainable Development of Small Island Developing States

SIDS-L.iisd.org

SIDS Policy & Practice is a knowledge management project that reports on activities related to 
the sustainable development of small island developing States (SIDS). It is managed by the 
International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD) Reporting Services. 

The project is conducted in close cooperation with the United Nations Department of 
Economic and Social Affairs (DESA), in conjunction with the revitalization of SIDSNet, in 
support of the Barbados Programme of Action, which called for support for 
“the development of a small islands' sustainable development information network to 
facilitate the exchange of experience among small island developing States.”  The launch of 
SIDS Policy & Practice is timed to coincide with the UN General Assembly’s High-Level 
Review Meeting on the implementation of the Mauritius Strategy for the Further 
Implementation (MSI) of the Programme of Action for the Sustainable Development of 
Small Island Developing States , being held in New York at UN Headquarters on 
24-25 September 2010. 

IISD RS is fully responsible for the content posted on SIDS Policy & Practice. Information on 
implementation activities is provided in cooperation with SIDSNet.

We invite you to visit SIDS Policy & Practice, at SIDS-L.iisd.org. Please also visit our Earth 
Negotiations Bulletin coverage of the Mauritius Strategy +5 Review at 
http://www.iisd.ca/sids/msi+5/.

For further information on this initiative or to provide us with information about your SIDS-
related activity, please contact Faye Leone, Content Editor, at faye@iisd.org.

SIDS Policy & Practice
A Knowledgebase on the Sustainable Development 

of Small Island developing States



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /DetectCurves 0.0000
  /ColorConversionStrategy /CMYK
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedOpenType false
  /ParseICCProfilesInComments true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveDICMYKValues true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveFlatness true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments true
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /CropColorImages true
  /ColorImageMinResolution 300
  /ColorImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageMinDownsampleDepth 1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /CropGrayImages true
  /GrayImageMinResolution 300
  /GrayImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageMinDownsampleDepth 2
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /CropMonoImages true
  /MonoImageMinResolution 1200
  /MonoImageMinResolutionPolicy /OK
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /CheckCompliance [
    /None
  ]
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputConditionIdentifier ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName ()
  /PDFXTrapped /False

  /CreateJDFFile false
  /Description <<

    /BGR <>
    /CHS <FEFF4f7f75288fd94e9b8bbe5b9a521b5efa7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065876863900275284e8e9ad88d2891cf76845370524d53705237300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c676562535f00521b5efa768400200050004400460020658768633002>
    /CHT <FEFF4f7f752890194e9b8a2d7f6e5efa7acb7684002000410064006f006200650020005000440046002065874ef69069752865bc9ad854c18cea76845370524d5370523786557406300260a853ef4ee54f7f75280020004100630072006f0062006100740020548c002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee553ca66f49ad87248672c4f86958b555f5df25efa7acb76840020005000440046002065874ef63002>
    /CZE <>
    /DAN <>
    /DEU <>
    /ESP <>
    /ETI <>
    /FRA <>
    /GRE <>

    /HRV (Za stvaranje Adobe PDF dokumenata najpogodnijih za visokokvalitetni ispis prije tiskanja koristite ove postavke.  Stvoreni PDF dokumenti mogu se otvoriti Acrobat i Adobe Reader 5.0 i kasnijim verzijama.)
    /HUN <>
    /ITA <>
    /JPN <FEFF9ad854c18cea306a30d730ea30d730ec30b951fa529b7528002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020658766f8306e4f5c6210306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103055308c305f0020005000440046002030d530a130a430eb306f3001004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d3067958b304f30533068304c3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /KOR <FEFFc7740020c124c815c7440020c0acc6a9d558c5ec0020ace0d488c9c80020c2dcd5d80020c778c1c4c5d00020ac00c7a50020c801d569d55c002000410064006f0062006500200050004400460020bb38c11cb97c0020c791c131d569b2c8b2e4002e0020c774b807ac8c0020c791c131b41c00200050004400460020bb38c11cb2940020004100630072006f0062006100740020bc0f002000410064006f00620065002000520065006100640065007200200035002e00300020c774c0c1c5d0c11c0020c5f40020c2180020c788c2b5b2c8b2e4002e>
    /LTH <>
    /LVI <>
    /NLD (Gebruik deze instellingen om Adobe PDF-documenten te maken die zijn geoptimaliseerd voor prepress-afdrukken van hoge kwaliteit. De gemaakte PDF-documenten kunnen worden geopend met Acrobat en Adobe Reader 5.0 en hoger.)
    /NOR <>
    /POL <>
    /PTB <>
    /RUM <>
    /RUS <>
    /SKY <>
    /SLV <>
    /SUO <>
    /SVE <>
    /TUR <>
    /UKR <>
    /ENU (Use these settings to create Adobe PDF documents best suited for high-quality prepress printing.  Created PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Adobe Reader 5.0 and later.)
  >>
  /Namespace [
    (Adobe)
    (Common)
    (1.0)
  ]
  /OtherNamespaces [
    <<
      /AsReaderSpreads false
      /CropImagesToFrames true
      /ErrorControl /WarnAndContinue
      /FlattenerIgnoreSpreadOverrides false
      /IncludeGuidesGrids false
      /IncludeNonPrinting false
      /IncludeSlug false
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (InDesign)
        (4.0)
      ]
      /OmitPlacedBitmaps false
      /OmitPlacedEPS false
      /OmitPlacedPDF false
      /SimulateOverprint /Legacy
    >>
    <<
      /AddBleedMarks false
      /AddColorBars false
      /AddCropMarks false
      /AddPageInfo false
      /AddRegMarks false
      /ConvertColors /ConvertToCMYK
      /DestinationProfileName ()
      /DestinationProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /Downsample16BitImages true
      /FlattenerPreset <<
        /PresetSelector /MediumResolution
      >>
      /FormElements false
      /GenerateStructure false
      /IncludeBookmarks false
      /IncludeHyperlinks false
      /IncludeInteractive false
      /IncludeLayers false
      /IncludeProfiles false
      /MultimediaHandling /UseObjectSettings
      /Namespace [
        (Adobe)
        (CreativeSuite)
        (2.0)
      ]
      /PDFXOutputIntentProfileSelector /DocumentCMYK
      /PreserveEditing true
      /UntaggedCMYKHandling /LeaveUntagged
      /UntaggedRGBHandling /UseDocumentProfile
      /UseDocumentBleed false
    >>
  ]
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice


